# Relationship of Occupational Stress on Emotional and Physical Health in Veterinary Technicians

by

Kimberly Nellie Ann Fong, RVT, CHES

Master of Public Health, California Baptist University, 2020

Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Master of Public Health

California Baptist University

November 2020

Kimberly Nellie Ann Fong

# The College of Health Science

# California Baptist University

Riverside, California

This is to certify that the Master's Thesis of

Kimberly Nellie Ann Fong, RVT, CHES

has met the thesis requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health

Approved by:

Lindsay Fahnestock

Lindsay Fahnestock, DrPH Assistant Professor, Department of Public Health Sciences Committee Chair

Marshare Penny, DrPH

Marshare Penny

Chair and Professor, Department of Public Health Sciences

Committee Member

Sangmin Kim

Sangmin Kim, DrEd., MCHES
Professor, Department of Public Health Sciences
Committee Member

#### Abstract

Veterinary technicians experience unique workplace stressors that result in physical and emotional health issues. Research in understanding these problems in this unique group is sparse or not generalizable. This cross-sectional online survey aimed to investigate the relationship between veterinary technician occupational stress and corresponding emotional and physical health throughout an entire Southern California county. A volunteer sample of 122 licensed veterinary premises were recruited in a Southern California county. A Pearson correlation was performed to answer the research questions and results showed that workplace stress was negatively associated with veterinary technician physical health and emotional health. On this basis, it is recommended that additional research be taken to further understand the relationship between workplace stress and physical health in this unique group. Moreover, the creation of health instruments appropriate to the veterinary field should be undertaken.

Key words: Veterinary technician, stress, occupational, emotional health, physical health

#### Acknowledgments

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to Dr. Fahnestock, Dr. Penny, and Dr. Kim for their infinite wisdom and patience throughout this educational adventure. I also want to give special appreciation to Dr. LaChausse, Dr. Wigginton, and Dr. Amankwah for their support and guidance during my time here at the university. California Baptist University has changed my life, and I am so blessed that I was given the opportunity to study with outstanding faculty.

I am also very grateful to Gerardo Cornejo, Joelle Sazon, and all my amazing friends for helping me be the person I am today. I also want to acknowledge Jennifer Aniya, DVM, ACVD. Megan Frazer, DVM, ACVD, and Christina Yamazaki, DVM, ACVD, for being wonderful mentors. Thank you to my loving and supportive mom, Carol (the real MVP) and my dog "Rose," the best dog ever. I am extremely appreciative to the veterinary professionals who motivate me every day and to the veterinary technicians and assistants who took the time to participate in this study. May God bless all those in this profession and give them strength as they continue to do His work in the world.

And finally, I am forever thankful to God, the Father Almighty. "Thank you for making me wonderfully complex! Your workmanship is marvelous..." Psalms 139:14

# Table of Contents

List of Tables	i
Introduction	3
Stress at Work: An Overview	3
Occupational Stress and Mental Health	4
Occupational Stress and Physical Effects	<del>(</del>
Registered Veterinary Technicians	
Occupational Stress among RVTs	
RVTs and Compassion Fatigue	
RVTs and Burnout	12
Purpose of Study	12
Research Questions	
Hypotheses	
Method	
Design	15
Procedures	
Participants	16
Measures	17
Independent and Dependent Variables	20
Data Analysis	
Results	23
Demographic Information.	23
Major Findings	23
Research Question #1	
Research Question #2	24
Discussion	25
Summary of Major Findings	25
Study Strengths	27
Study Limitations	28
Public Health Implications	29
Conclusion	
References	
Appendix A: Demographics	
Appendix C: IRB Approval	
Appendix D: Survey Recruitment Flyer	
Appendix E: Consent Form and Demographic Section of Survey	

# **List of Tables**

Table 1. Select demographics of a sample of veterinary technicians and assistants in a	
Southern California County ( <i>n</i> =96)	. 45
•	
Table 2. Descriptive Statistics and Correlations for NSS and SF-36 Subscales	. 46

#### Introduction

#### **Stress at Work: An Overview**

While not every manifestation of stress is harmful, workplace stress can cause detrimental physical, psychological, and behavioral problems (Department of Health and Human Services [HHS], 2020). Psychological symptoms of workplace stress include depression, anxiety, irritability, feelings of being unable to cope, and cognitive difficulties, while behavioral symptoms include aggression, mood swings, increased absenteeism, isolation, and drops in work performance (HHS, 2020). Stress in the workplace is caused by various events, such as long hours, heavy workload, job insecurity, over-supervision, lack of resources, harassment, insufficient pay, and incongruency between workplace and personal values (HHS, 2020; LeBlanc & Marques, 2019). Some professions are inherently more stressful than others, particularly those that involve quick decision-making that can have severe financial, social, or other impacts (Koinis et al., 2015). Mental health problems especially affect workers whose mental acuity and creativity are vital to the job (Goetzel et al., 2018). Healthcare professionals are responsible for the lives of others, and their actions have severe repercussions on patients; thus, they are more prone to stress and burnout at higher rates than other occupations (Koinis et al., 2015).

The workplace can be a vital contributor to high healthcare costs and poor health outcomes in the United States as stress has a direct effect on mental and physical health (Goh, Pfeffer, & Zenios, 2015). Healthcare costs are not just an issue of public policy but also have substantial financial implications for employers (Goh, Pfeffer, & Zenios, 2015). Workplace stress-related problems, such as high demands at work, lack of insurance, and work-family conflict, cause over 120,000 deaths annually and cost \$190 billion in health care costs every year

(Center for Workplace Mental Health, n.d.). Almost 90% of health expenditures in the U.S. are from people with mental health issues and chronic diseases (Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion [ODPHP], 2020), and almost 25% of employed adults in the U.S. adults suffer from anxiety or mood disorders (Buttorff, Ruder, & Bauman, 2017). When employees receive adequate treatment for health issues, medical costs are lower, productivity increases, and absenteeism decreases (Center for Workplace Mental Health, 2020).

Workplace stress has been shown to affect over 60% of Americans (American Psychological Association [APA], 2017; 2019b). In fact, it has remained a national priority as well as occupational and safety goal of Healthy People for over two decades (ODPHP, 2020). Workplace wellness programs are encouraged by the Center of Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and other government agencies (U.S. Office of Personnel Management, n.d.).

Human hospitals are the industry with the highest percentage of physical activity, nutrition, and weight management workplace programs (CDC, 2017). Employers can take measures to improve employee health by engaging in managerial practices that can mitigate work stressors (Goh, Pfeffer, & Zenios, 2015). Mental health, wellness, and physical promotion programs, however, are not required in the workplace (Black, 2017). Indeed, less than 26% of all employers in the U.S. offer health risk assessments to employees, and less than 50% of all employers offer any worksite health or wellness program; this percentage is even smaller for companies with fewer than 100 employees (CDC, 2017).

### Occupational Stress and Mental Health

When people suffer from mental illnesses, other dimensions of health are affected, diminishing the ability of individuals to perform at their optimal level while at work (Goetzel et al, 2018). Among employed adults, anxiety, substance abuse disorders, and depression are the

most common mental health issues (Goetzel et al., 2018; NIMH, 2019). Since half of these employed workers do not receive the mental health care services they need, they develop additional physical and social impairments, including alcoholism or other addictive behaviors (Goetzel et al., 2018; World Health Organization [WHO], 2019). Indirect costs of mental illness in the workplace include increased rates of disability, safety incidents, absenteeism, underperformance, stress imposed on other team members, and hiring costs (Goetzel et al., 2018; Kowlessar et al., 2011). Among health care workers, common mental health work stressors are emotional exhaustion and burnout, which is inevitable in high patient-to-nurse settings (Cimiotti et al., 2008). Aiken and colleagues (2002) found in their cross-sectional study that each additional patient per nurse was associated with a 23% increase in burnout and 15% decrease in job satisfaction.

A workplace study on healthcare costs and physical and mental health by Goetzel and colleagues (2012) attempted to update and refine the issues found in the Health Enhancement Research Organization (HERO) study from the late 1990s. While the purpose of the original HERO study was to quantify the financial consequences of having workers with elevated health risks detected through a health risk assessment, the more recent study reported on the economic impacts of 10 modifiable health risk factors commonly found in a working population. Goetzel and colleagues reported that employees with depression were almost 50% more expensive (\$2,184 in higher costs) than those not at-risk and workers with high stress were almost 10% more costly (\$413 in higher costs). The authors found that almost a quarter of healthcare costs were due to the risk factors measured in the study. Both the original HERO study and the updated study found that depression was the most important predictor of higher health costs and high stress had a lesser, but still significant, relationship to health costs (Goetzel et al., 2012).

# Occupational Stress and Physical Effects

Physical symptoms of workplace stress include fatigue, muscle tension, headaches, heart palpitations, dermatology disorders, and gastrointestinal upsets (HHS, 2020). But consistent, chronic exposure to stress can cause detrimental physical effects that harm coworkers and patients. Indeed, studies have suggested healthcare professionals consistently exposed to work stress are more likely to cause adverse outcomes in patients ranging from medical errors, falls, increased infections, and death from complications of care (Cimiotti et al., 2008).

Supporting this finding was Aiken and colleagues' (2002) study evaluating nurse staffing and patient mortality in Pennsylvania hospitals. The study found that each additional patient given to a nurse had a 7% increased likelihood of dying within the first 30 days of a major complication not present on admission. Aiken and colleagues (2018) also found in their study of South American hospitals that every one additional patient added to a nurse's workload was positively associated with an almost 10% increase in readmissions for patients with pneumonia and heart failure and over 11% readmissions in hospitalized children, thus unnecessarily adding to the cost of care. Nurses in the same study also reported being unable to complete discharge planning and patient education due to the high patient load (Aiken et al., 2018).

Job stress has the likelihood of inducing risky behaviors, such as smoking and drug and alcohol abuse, while discouraging healthy behaviors, such as physical activity and proper diet (Azagba & Sharef, 2011). In fact, the findings from the National Health Interview Survey showed that almost 40% of employed adults in the U.S. are overweight and an additional 30% are obese (CDC, 2017; Fryar et al., 2018). In their study, Goetzel and colleagues (2012) also found that employees with high blood pressure, diabetes, and other chronic diseases were

associated with an almost 30% increase in employer healthcare costs compared to a 21% increase in "healthy" or "normal" employees in the original HERO study.

## **Registered Veterinary Technicians**

Almost 70% of Americans own a cat, dog, bird, or horse (American Pet Products Association, 2019; AVMA, 2020a), while spending almost \$30 billion annually on veterinary services (American Pet Products Association, 2019). With the demand for veterinary services and increases in pet spending comes the demand for veterinarians and veterinary technicians to take care of these non-human family members (Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2019b).

In California, registered veterinary technicians (RVTs) and non-licensed veterinary technicians (veterinary assistants) are often referred to as animal nurses since they care for animal patients the way nurses care for humans (Kasper & Crosby, 2003). RVTs also play a crucial role in the human-animal relationship as they often are an owner's first point of contact, spending more time with people and their animals than the veterinarian (Kasper & Crosby, 2003). Unlike their human counterparts, however, RVTs' responsibilities extend beyond nursing, combining numerous roles into one occupation (Kasper & Crosby, 2003; Macedo et al., 2018).

The American Veterinary Medical Association (AVMA, 2020b) state that the process of being licensed as an RVT is similar to that of other medical professions, requiring an associate or bachelor degree in veterinary technology from an accredited program, obtaining practicum or externship hours, and successfully passing the Veterinary Technician National Licensing Exam (VTNE). While human and veterinary medicine are linked, crucial differences exist between the two. RVTs take care of patients of different species that cannot physically speak, and technicians are given the ability to perform euthanasia in animals who are ill, have behavior issues, or are unwanted (Rohlf, 2018).

Technicians are licensed to work in a variety of veterinary settings, such as in emergency, specialty, or research facilities as well as shelters, teaching hospitals, or a mixed practice, and with a variety of animals, such as with companion animals, large animals, and exotic animals (Kasper & Crosby, 2003). The RVT's primary role is to provide expert, skilled medical assistance to a veterinarian and/or an animal (Kasper & Crosby, 2003; AVMA, 2020b). Besides general nursing, RVTs administer and monitor anesthesia, take radiographs, perform dental prophylaxis and extractions, help with rehabilitation, monitor surgical procedures, discuss prescriptions with clients, and process and interpret laboratory tests (Kasper & Crosby, 2003). Under the supervision of a licensed veterinarian, California-licensed RVTs have the legal ability to perform euthanasia and handle controlled drugs, place catheters, suture sub- and cutaneous tissues and membranes, and enact external cardiac resuscitation (Department of Consumer Affairs, 2020). Most RVTs supervise and train other animal-care workers and entry-level technicians (Kasper & Crosby, 2003). In many veterinary settings there are no RVTs present; thus, at these veterinary premises the veterinary assistants perform the same roles as RVTs.

The Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS) projects employment in the veterinary technician profession to increase over 20% in the next decade (as cited in the Employment Development Department, 2020), which is higher than all other veterinary occupations (Ilic-Godfrey, 2019). In 2019, there were about 9,500 RVTs employed in California, more than any other state, and California technicians make the fourth-highest salary of all veterinary technicians in the U.S. (BLS, 2018). Further, almost 1,000 RVTs work in the Inland Empire Counties of Riverside and San Bernardino (BLS, 2018), making an annual mean wage of \$30,929 and having an hourly wage of \$14.87 (EDD, 2019). Technicians in these counties make the lowest income out of all the counties in California (EDD, 2019). In comparison, registered nurses (RNs), which is the

occupation most similar (EDD, 2020), employed in the Inland Empire counties make an annual salary of about \$106,000 (BLS, 2020b). As another comparison, it was reported on the U.S. Census that the average income for a Riverside County resident was \$64,000 (Census, 2018), and the average person working in Riverside County made an hourly wage of \$23.60 (BLS, 2018b).

# Occupational Stress among RVTs

Working with a variety of patient species comes the variety of risks, including getting bitten, scratched, or crushed; accidental needle sticks (Arluke, 1991); exposure to zoonotic diseases (Kasper & Crosby, 2003; see also Foster, 2011); confrontations with impatient or noncompliant owners; disagreements with coworkers or veterinarians (Kasper & Crosby, 2003); exposure to chemicals and anesthetics (Fowler et al., 2016); dissonance with euthanizing healthy animals (Rohlf, 2018); musculoskeletal disorders (Foster, 2011; Rohlf, 2018); and exposure to consistent animal abuse and neglect cases (Rohlf, 2018). The National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH, 2018) listed veterinary services as second in incidence rates for nonfatal occupational injuries and illnesses. Additional occupational risks for veterinary technicians in America are overlooked compared to human medicine (Hanrahan et al., 2018), and no research has evaluated occupational stress or the physical and mental health status of Southern California veterinary technicians. Moreover, it is unknown what percent of veterinary settings in the U.S. offer any form of workplace wellness programs.

### RVTs and Compassion Fatigue

Figley and Roop (1991) described compassion fatigue in the veterinary setting as a form of post-traumatic stress disorder since working every day with suffering animals and owners takes a toll on those employees who dispense compassion and empathy. Individuals seeking a

career in a veterinary setting view themselves as "animal people," expecting to spend much of their time having hands-on contact with animals in a setting where others share the same high priority of human-animal interaction (Arluke, 1991; Rohlf & Bennett, 2005). This is especially noteworthy and creates a risk factor for technicians as research has found that individuals who are the most caring and empathetic towards others are most at-risk for compassion fatigue (Lloyd & Campion, 2017).

Studies have suggested that exposure to animals has short-term health benefits, such as reducing stress and loneliness (Wells, 2009). Ironically, available evidence suggest that animal care workers are consistently subject to moral stress, a form of stress resulting from a behavior that conflicts with what one believes ought to be done (Crane et al., 2015), including burnout (Hayes, 2019) and compassion fatigue (Hill et al., 2020). Taking care of one's mental and physical health is just as important as taking care of patients' health (Lloyd & Campion, 2017); therefore, the health of veterinary technicians is an avenue that should be further explored.

Animal workers are also exposed to factors not present in human caring professions such as nursing (Hill et al., 2020). In California, there are over 550 animal shelters or humane societies, and in Riverside County over 13,000 animals were euthanized in 2019 (ShelterAnimalsCount, 2019). Frequently, this unfortunate duty falls into the hands of technicians and shelter workers (Reeve et al., 2005).

Many technicians also face demands for convenience euthanasia, which is when there is no health or behavior reason for an animal to be euthanized as well as instances where owners are unwilling to euthanize suffering animals (Hill et al., 2020). The "caring-killing paradox" is also a unique factor experienced by veterinary professionals who attempt to provide care and protection to animals, and often form attachments to their patients yet are called to euthanize

(Hill et al., 2020; Reeve et al., 2005). This form of "moral stress" causes technicians to be faced with a contradiction of their ideal occupational selves and the reality of having to perform convenience euthanasias (Reeve et al., 2005).

A study by Reeve and colleagues in 2005 found that veterinary professionals' euthanasia-related stress was related to work-to-family conflict and decreased job satisfaction. However, employees who viewed euthanasia as necessary and acceptable had less strain, and the overall results were not correlated to substance abuse (Reeve et al., 2005). Due to lack of government and state funding for animal services, continual abandonment and mistreatment of animals, and "backyard breeding," euthanasia in healthy animals is unlikely to decrease; thus, technicians remain an at-risk population for euthanasia-related strain (Reeve et al., 2005).

The National Association of Veterinary Technicians in America (NAVTA) attempted to look at the current state of the veterinary technician profession in its 2016 survey of technician members. Interestingly, the survey results suggested that well-paid technicians are only slightly above the poverty line once income taxes are considered. The survey also reported that the top six most significant problems RVTs face include low income, burnout, lack of recognition and career advancement, the underutilization of skills, and competition with on-the-job trained technicians. Despite providing valuable information on technicians, this survey had low external validity as it only reported data on members who were part of the NAVTA organization. The NAVTA is an optional paid membership organization for anyone interested in the veterinary profession (NAVTA, 2019).

Hill's and colleagues' study (2020) measured compassion fatigue and burnout in various animal care workers (technicians, veterinarians, animal control officers). The study found that compassion fatigue did not vary among the three occupations, but burnout was more prevalent in

technicians than veterinarians or animal control officers. The study also suggested that compassion fatigue increased with reported stress from euthanasias, frequency of working with cruelty and neglect cases, and a higher number of hours worked per week (Hill et al., 2020). The study, however, recruited participants through veterinary organizations where participants paid for membership; thus, it is not representative of the technician population.

#### RVTs and Burnout

In one cross-sectional study of four Australian veterinary specialty teaching hospitals, an interesting occupational stressor was found in the technicians: burnout (Hayes et al., 2019). Like in human medical professions, burnout among veterinary technicians can increase absenteeism and affect working standards, directly impacting patient care (Lloyd & Campion, 2017). Hayes and colleagues (2019) evaluated the relationships between burnout and resilience, self-reported medical error, and depression in veterinary technicians employed in specialty teaching hospitals in Canada. The study discovered that medical errors were positively associated with burnout and negatively associated with resilience. Workload, schedule, and interpersonal relationships had the highest explanatory power on the burnout scale, while patient load and unavailable assistance during increased workloads had the strongest associations on the burnout subscales. The findings of this study suggested that burnout in technicians has a cascade effect, causing depression, career changes, and decreasing hospital care quality while increasing staff costs (Hayes et al., 2019).

#### **Purpose of Study**

Individuals who are the most caring and empathetic towards others have a higher risk of experiencing occupational stress when confronted with psychologically demanding workplace roles and environments (Lloyd & Campion, 2017). Occupational stress and its effects on

Southern California veterinary technicians' emotional health and physical health is an understudied area that needs attention as veterinary support staff perform the same (and more) tasks as RNs (Kasper & Crosby, 2003). Many veterinary settings do not employ RVTs due to cost, turnover, or sparsity; thus, in these instances the veterinary assistants perform the roles of an RVT and are subject to the same stressors as technicians. For this study, RVTs and veterinary assistants were classified as technicians and are evaluated as one entity.

Despite existing educational research and studies about veterinary technicians, many of the studies were performed in other countries or other states using convenience sampling or recruitment through national organizations that most technicians are not members of, making external validity low. Further, a significant limitation in addressing the occupational stressors in veterinary technicians is the inability of some veterinary premises to implement workplace health interventions addressing workplace stress, either due to finances, lack of recommendations, little education on how to do so, or lack of appropriate staff. Previous studies have demonstrated that employees in similar environments experience high levels of stress and adverse health outcomes (Cordioli et al., 2019; Foster, 2011; Galdikiene et al., 2019). There have not been any studies evaluating the relationships between work stress and the physical and emotional health of veterinary technicians and assistants in Southern California.

The purpose of the present study was to evaluate the relationship between occupational stress among veterinary technicians and their emotional health and physical health. The goal of the study was to determine the severity that workplace stress causes on the emotional and physical health of these essential, yet often overlooked, workers.

#### **Research Questions**

The study answered two questions:

- 1. Is there a relationship between occupational stress and emotional health among veterinary technicians?
- 2. Is there a relationship between occupational stress and the physical health of veterinary technicians?

# **Hypotheses**

The hypothesis for Question 1 was that there would be a significant relationship between emotional health (independent variable) and occupational stress (dependent variable) among veterinary technicians. The hypothesis for Question 2 was that there would be a significant relationship between the physical health (independent variable) and occupational stress (dependent variable) among veterinary technicians.

#### Method

# Design

This study utilized a cross-sectional self-administered online survey to examine the relationship between stress and emotional and physical health of Riverside County veterinary technicians. The survey was divided into two sections with the first part of the survey containing 34 questions adapted from the Nursing Stress Scale (NSS) (Gray-Toft & Anderson, 1981) and 36 questions from the Medical Outcomes Study Short-Form 36 Health Survey (SF-36) (Ware & Sherbourne, 1992; Ware et al., 1993). The NSS is composed of 34 items broken into seven sections that describe situations that have been identified as stressful for nurses in the performance of their duties (Gray-Toft & Anderson, 1981). The SF-36 is a multi-item scale composed of 36 questions covering eight constructs of physical and mental functioning (Ware & Sherbourne, 1992). The second section contained 20 questions pertaining to demographics and finances. The online survey contained a total of 90 questions. Using G\*Power software, an effect size of 0.30, power of 0.80, and an alpha of 0.05, the minimum required sample size for the study was 84.

#### **Procedures**

The data for the research study was collected from May 8, 2020 to June 26, 2020 using Qualtrics® online survey software. The mean time to complete the survey was 33.58 minutes (SD = 87.84). Veterinary settings and contact information were located online, and locations were emailed and faxed the survey flyer from May 1 to May 15, 2020, and then again from June 12 to June 19, 2020. The survey data collection period concluded June 26. Follow-up calls were made to veterinary premises between these time periods to confirm email and/or faxed flyer was received and to answer questions about the survey. Ten locations within six Riverside County

cities that had no survey participation (as based on the zip code responses on the demographics section of the survey) were visited in-person and the technicians were given copies of the flyer and snacks to encourage completion of the survey. On the promotional flyers and emails, participants were encouraged to fill out the survey and leave their email or phone number to be entered into a weekly raffle of two \$25.00 gift cards (see Appendix D for promotion flyer). The option for technicians to submit contact for a weekly raffle was presented at the end of the survey. A total of \$350.00 was awarded to participants who left their contact information for the weekly raffle.

This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at California Baptist University under full-board review on April 30, 2020 (see Appendix C). Upon accessing the survey, participant consent was obtained and agreement to participate in the study was required before the survey questions would appear (see Appendix E). Through the consent process, participants were informed that they could decline to answer any question or exit the survey at any time without penalty. The survey had to be completed in one sitting. Surveys that had incomplete responses (i.e., started but not finished) were automatically recorded by Qualtrics 24 hours from when the survey was accessed.

## **Participants**

To be included in the study, participants had to be an RVT or non-licensed veterinary technician ("veterinary assistant"), be over 18 years of age, currently employed in a Riverside County veterinary setting, and have a phone or computer with internet access. Participants for this study were registered veterinary technicians (RVTs) and veterinary assistants employed at Riverside County veterinary premises. Since veterinary assistants perform many, if not all the duties of an RVT due to lack of employed RVTs in some settings, both assistant and technician

responses were analyzed as one entity referred to as "technicians," and all participants were referred to as just "technicians" unless otherwise stated. One-hundred two attempts were recorded, but 96 filled out the survey for a response rate of 94.11%.

It was unknown the number of veterinary support staff (RVT and assistants) who work in Riverside County since was possible that technicians licensed in one county may work in a different city or county. However, it was assumed that veterinary premises employ RVTs, assistants, or both. Therefore, in order to find technicians and assistants working specifically in Riverside County veterinary settings, veterinary premises with a current license to practice veterinary medicine were found using the Veterinary Medical Board website. A total of 155 Riverside County veterinary settings had current active licenses as listed on the California Veterinary Medical Board website in May 2020. All 155 offices were contacted to solicit participation in the survey. Out of these veterinary clinics that were contacted, three refused to participate, 17 were unable to be contacted, and 13 stated they did not employ any technicians or assistants. Thus, a total of 122 veterinary premises employed technicians and/or assistants were eligible for the survey.

#### Measures

The online survey began with the NSS followed by the SF-36 and concluded with demographic questions. The demographic section of the survey included 20 questions. The NSS is composed of 34 items broken into seven sections that describe frequency and intensity of situations that have been identified as causing stress for nurses in the performance of their duties (Gray-Toft & Anderson, 1981). In this project, the term "nurse" was replaced with "technician."

Total scores for the NSS can be from 0 to 102, and higher scores indicate more frequent stress (Gray-Toft & Anderson, 1981). Four Likert response categories are provided for each

item: Never (0), Occasionally (1), Frequently (2), and Very Frequently (3) (Gray-Toft & Anderson, 1981). This scale provides a total stress score and scores on each of the seven subscales that measure the frequency of stress experienced by RNs in the hospital environment (Gray-Toft & Anderson, 1981). The NSS scale is composed of seven factors: I: Death and Dying (seven questions); II: Conflict with Physicians (five questions); III: Inadequate Preparation to Deal with the Emotional Needs of Patients and Their Families (three questions); IV: Lack of Support (three questions); V: Conflict with Other Nurses (five questions); VI: Work Load (six questions); and VII: Uncertainty Concerning Treatment (five questions) (Gray-Toft & Anderson, 1981).

The seven factors of the NSS are further broken down into three types of workplace environments: Physical, Psychological, and Social. The Physical Environment includes Factor VI which involves stressful situations that arise from a nurse's work load, staffing problems, and inadequate time to complete nursing tasks (Gray-Toft & Anderson, 1981). The Psychological Environment employs Factors I, III, IV, and VII, which involves stressful situations resulting from suffering and death of patients, a nurse's attempts to meet the emotional needs of patients and their families, and the extent of opportunities to share experiences with other staff (Gray-Toft & Anderson, 1981). The Social Environment involves Factors II and V and includes stressful situations that arise from a nurse's interactions with physicians and conflictual situations that arise between nurses and supervisors (Gray-Toft & Anderson, 1981).

A total score that measures the overall frequency of stress experienced by a nurse can be created by adding the individual's responses to all 34 items (Gray-Toft & Anderson, 1981). To score the survey, individual item responses are added together for groups of items and all 34 items to obtain subscale scores and the total score, respectively (Gray-Toft & Anderson, 1981).

Higher scores indicate the respondent identifies a situation as stressful. There are no specific cut scores or published mean norms for the NSS that determine whether an individual is stressed or not (AbuRuz, 2014).

In this study, the original NSS instructions and certain words and statements were rephrased to be more appropriate for veterinary technicians. Also, the question "How often do you find yourself stressed" was inserted before each question on the NSS portion of the survey. Sensitivity and specificity for the NSS ranged from 0.79 to 0.89 (Gray-Toft & Anderson, 1981; see also Foster, 2011; French et al., 2000). The test-retest coefficient for the total scale was 0.81 (Gray-Toft & Anderson, 1981). The Cronbach alpha for the total scale was 0.89 (French et al., 2000).

The Medical Outcomes Study (MOS) Short-Form 36 Health Survey (SF-36) (Ware et al., 1993; Ware & Sherbourne, 1992) section followed immediately after the NSS section on the survey. The SF-36 is a multi-item scale composed of 36 questions measuring eight health concepts: (1) Physical Functioning (PF); (2) Role Limitations due to Physical Health Problems (RP); (3) Bodily Pain (BP); (4) General Health Perceptions (GH); (5) Vitality (VT; energy/fatigue); 6) Social-Functioning (SF); (7) Role Limitations due to Emotional Health Problems (RE); and (8) Emotional Well-Being (MH; psychological distress and well-being) (Ware et al., 1993). Ware noted an additional health rating item, Reported Health Transition, which asks respondents their perceived amount of change in their health in a one-year period. Despite this question being asked on the Vet Tech Survey, this question is not used to score any of the other multi-item scales (Ware et al., 1993).

The SF-36 responses are captured using a Likert-type scale ranging from two to six choices depending on the question. The SF-36 is scored so that a higher score indicates a better

health state (Ware et al., 1993), with the highest score being 100, or the most favorable health state (McHorney et al., 1994; RAND Health Care, 2020). Twenty-five questions were reverse-scored to ensure that a higher number indicated better health on all SF-36 items and scales (Ware et al., 1993). Items and scales are scored in three steps: (1) item recoding for the 10 items that require recoding; (2) computing scale scores by summing across items in the same scale (raw scale scores); and (3) transforming raw scale scores to a 0-100 score (transformed scale score) (Ware et al., 1993). Reliability and internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha) of the SF-36 has been reported as ranging from 0.73 to 0.96 with a median of 0.95 (Ware et al., 1993). Test-retest reliability has been reported as 0.60 to 0.92 (Ware et al., 1993). Ware and colleagues (1993) tested the SF-36 to be successful for content and construct validity.

## **Independent and Dependent Variables**

The first research question sought to determine if there was a relationship between occupational stress and emotional health among veterinary technicians. For this question, the independent variable was occupational stress and the dependent variable was emotional health. The second research question sought to determine if there was a relationship between occupational stress and physical health among veterinary technicians. In this question, the independent variable was occupational stress and the dependent variable was physical health.

For both research questions, the independent variable workplace stress was measured by the NSS as a total score. As previously discussed, the total score for the NSS can range from 0 to 102 with higher scores indicating more frequent stress (Gray-Toft & Anderson, 1981). For the first research question, the dependent variable of emotional health was measured by the subscale Emotional Well-Being (MH) of the SF-36. This subscale contains items from the four major

mental health dimensions of anxiety, depression, loss of behavior/emotional control, and psychological well-being (Ware et al., 1993).

The MH subscale contains five questions arranged on a Likert scale with six responses numbered from 1 to 6. A response of 1 indicates the individual agrees with the statement "All of the time" in the past 4 weeks, while a response of 6 indicates that the respondent agrees with the statement "None of the time." This subscale has two questions that are reverse scored so that a lower numbered response indicates a more favorable emotional outcome and thus a higher score, i.e., a response of 1 is recoded to a score of 100, a response of 2 is recoded to a score of 80, a response of 3 is recoded to a score of 60, a response of 4 is recoded to a score of 40, a response of 5 is recoded to a score of 20, and a response of 6 is recoded to a score of 0. One of these questions is, "How much time during the past four weeks have you felt calm and peaceful?"

The other three questions are recoded as well, so that a higher-numbered response indicates a more favorable emotional outcome (and thus a higher score) i.e., response of 1 is recoded to a score of 0, a response of 2 is recoded to a score of 20, a response of 3 is recoded to a score of 40, a response of 4 is recoded to a score of 60, and a response of 5 is recoded to a score of 100 (RAND, 2020). A sample question includes "How much of the time during the past 4 weeks have you felt so down in the dumps that nothing could cheer you up?" A high score on the MH subscale refers to being peaceful, happy, and calm all of the time (Ware et al., 1993). Conversely, the lowest possible score means the individual has feelings of nervousness and depression all of the time (Ware et al., 1993).

For the second research question, the dependent variable of physical health was measured by the subscale Physical Functioning (PF) of the SF-36. The PF subscale contains 10 items arranged on a Likert scale with three responses from 1 to 3. A response of 1 indicates the person

feels "Limited a lot" in certain daily activities, while a response of 3 indicates the person feels "No, not limited at all." A sample question from this subscale is, "Does your health now limit you in these activities? If so, how much? Vigorous activities such as running, lifting heavy objects, participating in strenuous sports." This subscale is recoded so that a higher response indicates a higher score (i.e., a response of 1 is recoded to a score of 0, a response of 2 is recoded to a score of 50, and a response of 3 is recoded to a score of 100). For both dependent variables of emotional health and physical health, SF-36 items are scored from 0 to 100 so that so that a high score defines a more favorable health state (RAND, 2020).

The highest score on the PF subscale refers to the person being able to perform all types of physical activities, including the most vigorous, without limitations due to health, while the lowest score refers to being limited a lot in performing all physical activities due to health (Ware et al., 1993).

### **Data Analysis**

To answer both research questions a Pearson correlation was used to compare the linear relationship between workplace stress to emotional health and workplace stress to physical health of veterinary technicians. The first research question evaluated the relationship between overall workplace stress (NSS total score) and the SF-36 subscale of MH. The second research question examined the relationship between the NSS total score and the SF-36 subscale of PF.

#### Results

## **Demographic Information**

Out of 102 individuals who logged onto Qualtrics to take the survey, 96 answered for a response rate of 94.1%. The majority of respondents were Hispanic (48.3%), were female (90.8%), worked in primary care (38.6%), were RVTs (47.1%), and worked nine to ten hours per shift (50.6%). Only 35% (35.2%) of participants responded that their employer offered mental and/or physical health programs. See Table 1 for complete details of demographics for this population.

### **Major Findings**

In this study, the mean and standard deviation for the Physical Functioning (PF) subscale from the SF-36 were 83.32 and 19.74, respectively (n = 89). This score suggests that technicians are able to perform all types of physical activities, including the most vigorous, without any limitations due to health. Mean and standard deviation for the Emotional Well-Being (MH) subscale from the SF-36 were 61.91 and 23.61, respectively (n = 89), suggesting that technicians have moderate psychological distress and feelings of nervousness and depression. Additionally, the mean score for the NSS in this study was 42.01 (SD = 17.25, n = 96). This score suggests that technicians experience moderately low levels of stress in the workplace.

#### Research Question #1

The first research question investigated the potential association between occupational stress and emotional health among veterinary technicians. A Pearson correlation was used to test for the relationship between overall occupational stress (NSS total score) and emotional health among veterinary technicians (SF-36 subscale of MH). A weak, negative but significant correlation was found (r (87) = -.256, p=0.015). Workplace stress is associated with emotional

health; as overall occupational stress among veterinary technicians increases, emotional health decreases. See Table 2 for the correlation table.

# Research Question #2

The second research question explored the association between occupational stress and physical health among veterinary technicians. A Pearson correlation was used to test for the relationship between overall workplace stress and physical health in veterinary technicians (SF-36 subscale of PF). A weak, negative but significant correlation between the two factors was found (r(87) = -.281, p = .008). Overall, workplace stress is associated with physical health; as workplace stress increases, physical health decreases. See Table 2 for the correlation table.

#### Discussion

## **Summary of Major Findings**

The purpose of this study was to evaluate the relationship between workplace stress and emotional and physical health of veterinary technicians and assistants throughout a county. This cross-sectional study found that there was a weak, negative but significant relationship between overall workplace stress and emotional health among veterinary technicians (r(87) = -.281, p = .008). This discovery is similar to previous studies concerning veterinary support staff and human nurses that found workplace stressors cause increased levels of psychological distress (Black et al., 2011; Jennings, 2008; Rohlf, 2018). However, this study did not assess the individual workplace stress factors that influence veterinary technicians' emotional health. Without additional statistical analyses, it is unclear which occupational stress factors influence the emotional well-being of participants.

Similarly, this study also found a weak, negative but significant relationship between workplace stress and physical functioning among veterinary technicians (r (87) = -.256, p= 0.015). This finding aligns with previous studies that showed that increases in workplace stress negatively affect physical health (Dooley et al., 2020; Mayo Clinic, 2019; Office on Women's Health, 2019). This finding also confirms prior research showing relationships between increased workplace stress and negative physical health in veterinary technicians or human nurses (Hammig, 2020; Sarafis et al., 2016). While the current study revealed a significant relationship between technician workplace stress and physical functioning, over 75% of participants were between the ages of 18 and 34. Additionally, the majority of participants worked at their current employer for one to two years and scored relatively high on the physical functioning subscale.

These findings may imply a younger workforce with relatively low physical health constraints and thus display a weak relationship between overall stress and physical functioning.

An additional, interesting conclusion in this study was that veterinary technicians experience moderately low levels of stress in the workplace despite the unique stressors (e.g., euthanasia, abandonment) that technicians face every day. This discovery is similar to prior findings evaluating occupational stress and veterinary support staff (Foster, 2011; Rohlf & Bennet, 2005). Additionally, the lower levels of stress experienced by veterinary technicians and assistants in this study are comparable to the moderately low levels of stress found in recent studies on RNs (Zavalis et al., 2019). Such conclusions in the human medical field can be explained by the fact that over 70% of human healthcare and hospital settings are given more opportunities for workplace wellness and stress reduction through various programs (particularly physical activity, work-life, and comprehensive program elements) as compared to the veterinary field (Linnan et al., 2019).

However, unlike Foster's (2011) research, this study's population scored higher on both emotional well-being and physical functioning subscales. This can likely be explained by the fact that Foster's study was performed in a different state and climate (i.e., a southern state) which have been shown to have poorer health outcomes (Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality [AHRQ], 2017; United Way of Central Alabama, 2020). Furthermore, Foster labeled "high stress" for the NSS as 31, while the authors of the NSS stated that higher scores closer to 102 indicate higher stress (the authors do not list a cutoff score for what is deemed "higher" or "lower" stress levels). Thus, the overall stress score is open to interpretation of what is considered high or low. Finally, the veterinary support staff population chosen by Foster was a sample that included only those who were members of the national veterinary technician

organization AVTA. That sample may not be representative or generalizable of the entire technician workforce since AVTA is an optional, paid membership organization with annual dues that may not be affordable by many technicians.

Even so, this study's findings are not parallel to a study conducted by the authors of the NSS scale who found nurses employed in all areas of the human hospital setting experience higher levels of workplace stress (Gray-Toft & Anderson, 1981). This discrepancy can be explained by the study having been performed over 30 years ago; since then, there have been improvements in workplace stress interventions, additions to organizational support, and advancements in medical technology that have made workplace stress easier to manage (Hersch et al., 2016; Jennings, 2008). Additionally, the recent COVID-19 pandemic has likely increased the levels of stress experienced by RNs and other employees in human health fields. It is therefore probable that current studies evaluating stress experienced between human and animal medical staff are unique and cannot be compared.

### **Study Strengths**

The strengths of the study include the use of reliable and valid scales. The SF-36 has been utilized in different countries and healthcare settings measuring health-related quality of life (HRQL) (Obidoa et al., 2010). Application of the instrument in clinical practice, policy evaluations, and health intervention evaluations have demonstrated it to be a relatively stable metric when used in a healthy population over moderate time periods (Obidoa et al., 2010). The SF-36 has also been proven to be a reliable and valid measure for decades, particularly in terms of construct and criterion validity (Jenkinson et al., 1994; Ware et al., 1993).

The NSS has also proven to have high internal consistency and construct and content validity when utilized in different countries and hospital settings, including in the veterinary

profession (Foster, 2011; French et al., 2000; Gray-Toft & Anderson, 1981; McCarthy et al., 2010). A final strength of the study was every veterinary premise in Riverside County was contacted for participation, giving adequate and representative responses from participants of a variety of veterinary settings. To date, no other research has attempted to measure technician and assistant responses at every county-wide veterinary premises.

### **Study Limitations**

There were a few limitations of this study. The use of a cross-sectional survey method in the current study means that causal inferences cannot be drawn. Additionally, the self-administered nature of the survey may have influenced recall bias as some of the survey questions asked respondents to recall stress experiences and specific health issues in the past four weeks. Furthermore, the NSS authors initially designed the instrument for use in research of RNs. Thus, it is possible that the participants (RVTs) in this study did not feel the questions were relatable to their workplace experiences, despite several terms in the NSS being rephrased to be more relatable to the veterinary profession. It is also possible that a more appropriate scale measuring stress to the veterinary profession could have been used.

Voluntary response bias was also a limitation concern, since only those participants who wanted to contribute information or be entered into the weekly raffle may have taken the survey. Finally, the results of this study do not consider previous chronic diseases or mental health problems that may be exacerbated by the demands of the veterinary profession; thus, it is possible that there is a third-variable confounding the relationship between physical and emotional health to workplace stress. An example of such are individuals who have pre-existing medical conditions prior to becoming employed in the veterinary field.

Data collection was met with occasional disdain, which affected participation. One veterinary clinic manager responded to the researcher, "My technicians don't have time to fill out any survey and I can tell you that they definitely are stressed, so you don't need a survey to tell you that." While only three veterinary premises declined to participate in the survey, the technicians from these locations could have provided valuable insight into the survey responses.

# **Public Health Implications**

The results of this study confirmed that workplace stress and physical and emotional health in veterinary technicians and assistants should be studied. Research is required to better understand how outside stress influences RVTs beyond the veterinary setting in order to address the entire health of the individual. Future researchers should utilize implementation of stress or physical activity evidence-based programs in the veterinary setting with experimental and longitudinal studies appraising how stress affects this unique population, particularly over time and among different veterinary premises. Finally, the effect of employee stress on veterinary patient outcomes is poorly understood. Studies are needed to enhance the understanding of stress and emotional heath on patient safety (Jennings, 2008), especially in veterinary patients as they do not have the ability to communicate with the medical staff. Therefore, it is difficult to understand the results of technician workplace stress on animal patients' quality of care or nosocomial infections.

At present, the statistics of veterinary premises that provide workplace wellness programs are unknown; this is a concern, as the Workplace Health in America report stated that less than 48% of all employers in the U.S. offer health promotion or wellness programs (Linnan et al., 2019). Moreover, 65% of the technicians who participated in this study stated that their workplaces did not offer wellness or health promotion programs. Public health policymakers and

health educators should be used in all veterinary settings to develop support in offering a healthy work environment for veterinary employees and provide evidence that that it makes good business sense to provide health programming options (Linnan et al., 2019).

Additionally, novel research comparing stress and health outcomes of nurses to veterinary technicians would be worthwhile in differentiating these comparable groups, thus offering targeted, evidence-based workplace wellness programs to the veterinary profession. Studies have proven that wellness programs in the human medical field have led tohealthier employees, improved productivity, saved the employer costs, and are affordable to any company regardless of size as long as they are implemented, designed, and evaluated properly (Goetzel, 2020; Levy & Thorndike, 2019; Linnan et al., 2019).

There is a lack of research in veterinary studies. Moreover, the existent research is not as rigorous as that of human medicine, and thus, full understanding of this population is vague. For example, one systematic review measured technician wellness interventions found improvements in burnout and compassion satisfaction, but these studies were few, outdated, or not rigorous enough for significance (Rohlf, 2018). Therefore, more research is needed.

There is no current valid and reliable scale measuring stress in veterinary technicians and assistants. Given the high level of work-related stress in this population, an important avenue of future research is the development of an assessment of workplace stressors uniquely affecting technicians in order to develop psychological health interventions aimed at improving the well-being of this unique group (Deacon & Brough, 2016). Similarly, it would be appropriate to assess and compare the types of coping strategies used by technicians and nurses in the workplace. Individual differences in personality and resilience may act as protective or possible risk factors for unfavorable stress outcomes (Deacon & Brough, 2016).

#### Conclusion

Veterinary technicians and assistants make up a significant portion of the veterinary workforce. They are involved in and contribute to many aspects of veterinary medicine and public health. They were in general practices providing preventative care to universities engaged in research (Foster, 2011). Results from this study can be used for workplace policy changes (such as ensuring adequate shift coverage and wellness programs), can encourage potential unionization for technicians' rights in the workplace, and can encourage veterinary nurses to express their needs in the workplace in order for improved emotional and physical health outcomes of patients and employees.

#### References

- AbuRuz, M. E. (2014). A comparative study about the impact of stress on job satisfaction between Jordanian and Saudi nurses. *European Scientific Journal*, 10(17), 162-172. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/269764962\_A\_comparative\_study\_about\_the\_i mpact\_of\_stress\_on\_job\_satisfaction\_between\_Jordanian\_and\_Saudi\_NurseS
- Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. (2017). *National Healthcare Quality and Disparities Report, Alabama*. Department of Health and Human Services. https://nhqrnet.ahrq.gov/inhqrdr/Alabama/snapshot/table/All\_Measures/All\_Topics
- Aiken, L.H., Ceron, C., Simonetti, M., Lake, E.T., Galiano, A., Garbarini, A., Soto, P., Bravo, D., & Smith, H.L. (2018). Hospital nurse staffing and patient outcomes. *Revista Medica Clinica Las Condes*, 29(3), 322-332. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rmclc.2018.04.011
- Aiken, L.H., Clarke, S.P., Sloane, D.M., Sochalski, J., & Silber, J.H. (2002). Hospital nurse staffing and patient mortality, nurse burnout, and job dissatisfaction. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 288(16), 1987-1993. doi:10.1001/jama.288.16.1987
- Azagba, S. & Sharaf, M.F. (2014). Physical activity among older Canadian adults. Journal of Physical Activity and Health, 11(1), 99-108. doi: 10.1123/jpah.2011-0305
- Linnan, L.A., Cluff, L., & Lang, J.E. (2019). Results of the workplace health in American survey. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 33(5), 652-665. https://doi.org/10.1177/0890117119842047
- American Pet Products Association. (2019). *Pet industry market size and ownership statistics*. https://www.americanpetproducts.org/press\_industrytrends.asp
- American Psychological Association. (2017). *Stress in America: The state of our nation*. https://www.apa.org/news/press/releases/stress/2017/state-nation.pdf

- American Psychological Association (2019b). *Stress in America: Stress and current events*,

  Stress in America<sup>TM</sup> Survey. https://www.apa.org/news/press/releases/stress/2019/stress-america-2019.pdf
- American Veterinary Medical Association (2018). U.S. pet ownership statistics. https://www.avma.org/resources-tools/reports-statistics/us-pet-ownership-statistics
- American Veterinary Medical Association (2019). *Pet ownership, spending going strong*. https://www.avma.org/javma-news/2019-06-01/pet-ownership-spending-going-strong
- American Veterinary Medical Association (2020a). U.S. pet ownership statistics.
  - https://www.avma.org/resources-tools/reports-statistics/us-pet-ownership-statistics
- American Veterinary Medical Association (2020b). *Veterinary technician programs accredited* by the AVMA CVTEA.
  - https://www.avma.org/education/accreditation/programs/veterinary-technology-programs-accredited-avma-cvtea#california
- Arluke, A. (1991). Coping with euthanasia: A case study of shelter culture. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 7*.

  https://www.researchgate.net/publication/21111351\_Coping\_with\_Euthanasia\_A\_Case\_Study\_of\_Shelter\_Culture
- Azagba, S. & Sharaf, M.F. (2011). Psychosocial working conditions and the utilization of health care services. *BMC Public Health*, *11*, 642. https://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/track/pdf/10.1186/1471-2458-11-642
- Black, A. (2017). Five reasons employee wellness is worth the investment. Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion. https://health.gov/news-archive/blog/2017/05/five-reasons-employee-wellness-is-worth-the-investment/index.html

- Buttorff, C., Ruder, T., & Bauman, M. (2017). *Multiple chronic conditions in the United States*.

  RAND Corporation.
  - https://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/tools/TL200/TL221/RAND\_TL221.pdf
- California Veterinary Medical Association. (2017). *Mandatory CE for registered veterinary*technicians CE requirements. https://cvma.net/learning/mandatory-continuing-education/mandatory-ce-provider-information/mandatory-ce-information-for-registered-veterinary-technicians/mandatory-ce-requirements-for-registered-veterinary-technicians/
- Center for Workplace Mental Health. (n.d.). *Workplace stress*. American Psychiatric Foundation. http://workplacementalhealth.org/Mental-Health-Topics/Workplace-Stress
- Center for Workplace Mental Health. (2020). *Investing in a mentally healthy workforce is good for business*. American Psychiatric Foundation.

  http://workplacementalhealth.org/Making-The-Business-Case
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2017). Workplace health in America 2017. U.S.

  Department of Health and Human Services, National Institute of Health.

  https://www.cdc.gov/workplacehealthpromotion/data-surveillance/docs/2017-Workplace-Health-in-America-Summary-Report-FINAL-updated-508.pdf
- Cimiotti, J.P., Aiken, L.H., & Poghosyan, L. (2008). Burnout syndrome in registered nurses. In J.R.B. Halbesleben (Ed.). *Handbook of stress and burnout in health care* (pp. 54-64). Nova Science Publishers.
  - https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/calbaptist/reader.action?docID=3021699&ppg=23
- Cohen, J. (2007). A power primer. *Psychological Bulletin*, *112*(1), 155-159. http://www.bwgriffin.com/workshop/Sampling%20A%20Cohen%20tables.pdf

- Cordioli, D.F.C., Cordioli, Jr., J.R., Gazetta, C.E., Gomes da Silva. A., & Lourenção, L.G. (2019). Occupational stress and engagement in primary health care workers. *Revista Brasileria Enfermagem*, 72(6),1580-1587. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/0034-7167-2018-0681
- Crane, M.F., Phillips, J.K., & Karin, E. (2015). Trait perfectionism strengthens the negative effects of moral stressors occurring in veterinary practice. *Australian Veterinary Journal*, 93(1).
- Deacon, R. E. & Brough, P. (2016). Veterinary nurses' psychological well-being: The impact of patient suffering and death. *Australian Journal of Psychology*, 69, 77-85. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajpy.12119
- Department of Consumer Affairs, Veterinary Medical Board (2020). Frequently asked questions of the Veterinary Medical Board on Animal Shelter

  Issues.https://www.vmb.ca.gov/inspections/shelter\_faqs.shtml
- Department of Health and Human Services (2020). Work related stress. State Government of Victoria, Australia. https://www.betterhealth.vic.gov.au/health/healthyliving/work-related-stress
- Dooley, L.M., Alizadeh, A., Qiu, S., & Wu, H. (2020). Does servant leadership moderate the relationship between job stress and physical health? *Sustainability*, *12*(16). https://doi.org/10.3390/su12166591
- Employment Development Department (2019). Veterinary technologists and technicians 2019 wages.

56

 $\underline{https://www.labormarketinfo.edd.ca.gov/OccGuides/ALLOESWage.aspx?Soccode=2920}$ 

- Employment Development Department. (2020). Detailed guide for veterinary technologists and technicians in California.

  https://www.labormarketinfo.edd.ca.gov/OccGuides/detail.aspx?Soccode=292056&Geog raphy=0601000000
- Figley, C.R. & Roop, R.G (2006). *Compassion fatigue in the animal-care community*. Humane Society Press. file:///C:/Users/User/Downloads/Compassion\_fatigue\_in\_the\_animal-care\_co.pdf
- Foster, S. M. (2011). *Occupational stress in veterinary support staff* [Unpublished doctoral dissertation]. University of Alabama at Birmingham. https://search-proquest-com.libproxy.calbaptist.edu/docview/873455803
- Fowler, H.N., Holzbauer, S.M., Smith, K.E., & Scheftel, J.M (2016). Survey of occupational hazards in Minnesota veterinary practices in 2012. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, 248(2), 207-218. doi: 10.2460/javma.248.2.207
- French, S.E., Lenton, R., Walters, V., & Eyles, J. (2000). An empirical evaluation of an expanded nursing stress scale. *Journal of Nursing Measurement*, 8(2). https://www.researchgate.net/publication/12103164\_An\_Empirical\_Evaluation\_of\_an\_Expanded\_Nursing\_Stress\_Scale
- Fryar, C.D., Kruszon-Moran, D., Gu, Q., & Ogden, C.L. (2018). *Mean body weight, height, waist circumference, and body mass index among adults: United States, 1999–2000 through 2015–2016.* National Health Statistics Report Number 122. National Center for Health Statistics. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhsr/nhsr122-508.pdf
- Galdikiene, N., Asikainen, P., Rostila, I., Green, P., Balčiūnas, S., Helminen, M., Suominen, T. (2019). The association of primary healthcare nurses' perceived stress with

- organizational culture and climate in a team context. *Central European Journal of Nursing and Midwifery*, 10(3), 1092-1101. doi: 10.15452/CEJNM.2019.10.0019
- Garcia-Izquierdo, M. & Rios-Risquez, M.I. (2011). The relationship between psychosocial job stress and burnout in emergency departments: An exploratory study. *Nursing Outlook*, 60, 322-329. doi:10.1016/j.outlook.2012.02.002
- Goetzel, R.Z., Pei, X., Tabrizi, M.J., Henke, R.M., Kowlessar, N., Nelson, C.F., & Metz, R.D. (2012). Ten modifiable health risk factors are linked to more than one-fifth of employer-employee health care spending. *Health Affairs*, *31* (11), 2474-2484. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2011.0819
- Goetzel, R.Z., Roemer, E.C., Holingue, C., Fallin, M.D., McCleary, K., Eaton, W., Agnew, J., Azocar, F., Ballard, D., Bartlett, J., Braga, M., Conway, H., Crighton, K.A., Frank, R., Jinnett, K., Keller-Greene, D., Rauch, S.M., Safeer, R., Saporito, D., .... Mattingly, C.R. (2018). Mental health in the workplace: A call to action, Proceedings from the mental health in the workplace: public health summit. *Journal of Occupational Environmental Medicine*, 60(4), 322-330. doi: 10.1097/JOM.0000000000001271
- Goetzel, R.Z. (2020). Commentary on the study "What do workplace wellness programs do? Evidence from the workplace wellness Illinois study." *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 34(4), 440-444. doi: 10.1177/0890117120906664
  journals.sagepub.com/home/ahp
- Goh, J., Pfeffer, J., & Zenios, S. (2015). The relationship between workplace stressors and mortality and health costs in the United States. *Management Science*, 1-21. Articles in Advance. http://dx.doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.2014.2115

- Gray-Toft, P. & Anderson, J.G. (1981). The nursing stress scale: Development of an instrument.

  \*Journal of Behavioral Assessment, 3(1), 11-23. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01321348
- Hammig, O. (2020). Work-and stress-related musculoskeletal and sleep disorders among health professionals: A cross-sectional study in a hospital setting in Switzerland. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 21:319. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-020-03327-w
- Hanrahan, C., Sabo, B.M., & Robb, P. (2018). Secondary traumatic stress and veterinarians:

  Human–animal bonds as psychosocial determinants of health. *Traumatology*, 24(1), 73-82. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/trm0000135
- Hayes, G.M., LaLonde-Paul, D.F., Perret, J.L., Steele, A., McConkey, M., Lane, W.G., Kopp, R.J., Stone, H.K., Miller, M., & Jones-Bitton, A. (2019). Investigation of burnout syndrome and job-related risk factors in veterinary technicians in specialist teaching hospitals: A multicenter cross-sectional study. *Journal of Veterinary Emergency and Critical Care*, 30, 18-27. https://doi.org/10.1111/vec.12916
- Hill, E.M., LaLonde, C.M., & Reese, L.A. (2020). Compassion fatigue in animal care workers.

  \*Traumatology, 26(1), http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/trm0000218
- Ilic-Godfrey, S. (2019). Ahead of the pack: Why are veterinary occupations growing much faster than average? Bureau of Labor Statistics, *Beyond the Numbers*, 8(4). https://www.bls.gov/opub/btn/volume-8/pdf/veterinary-occupations-growing.pdf
- Jenkinson, C., Wright, L., & Coulter, A. (1994). Criterion validity and reliability of the SF-36 in a population sample. *Quality of Life Research*, *3*(1), 7-12. doi: 10.1007/BF00647843.
- Jennings, B.M. (2008). Patient safety and quality: An evidence-based handbook for nurses. In R.G. Hughes (Ed.), *Chapter 26, work stress and burnout among nurses: Role of the work*

- environment and working conditions. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK2651/
- Kasper, H., & Crosby, O. (2003). Veterinary technicians: Nursing animals to health.

  \*Occupational Outlook Quarterly, 25-33.

  https://www.bls.gov/careeroutlook/2003/fall/art03.pdf
- Koinis, A., Giannou, V., Drantaki, V., Angelaina, S., Stratou, E., & Saridi, M. (2015). The impact of healthcare workers job environment on their mental-emotional health. Coping strategies: The case of a local general hospital. *Health Psychology Research*, *3*(1), 1984. doi: 10.4081/hpr.2015.1984
- Kowlessar, N.M., Goetzel, R.Z., Carls, G.S., Tabrizi, M.J., & Guindon, A. (2011). The relationship between 11 health risks and medical and productivity costs for a large employer. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, *53*(5). https://www.academia.edu/18293915/The\_Relationship\_Between\_11\_Health\_Risks\_and \_Medical\_and\_Productivity\_Costs\_for\_a\_Large\_Employer
- LeBlanc, N.J & Marques, L. (2019). *How to handle stress at work*. Harvard Health Publishing, Harvard Medical School. https://www.health.harvard.edu/blog/how-to-handle-stress-at-work-2019041716436
- Levy, D.E. & Thorndike, A.N. (2019). Workplace wellness and short-term changes in health care expenditures. *Preventive Medicine Reports*, *13*, 175-178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmedr.2018.12.019
- Linnan, L.A., Cluff, L., Lang, J.E., Penne, M.P., & Leff, M.S. (2019). Results of the workplace health in America survey. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 33(5), 652-665. doi: 10.1177/0890117119842047

- Lloyd, C. & Campion, D.P. (2017). Occupational stress and the importance of self-care and resilience: Focus on veterinary nursing. *Irish Veterinary Journal*, 70(30). doi: 10.1186/s13620-017-0108-7
- Macedo, A.C., Mota, V.T., Tavares, J.M., Machado, O.L., Malcata, F.X., Cristo, M.P., & Mayan,
  O.N. (2018). Work environment and occupational risk assessment for small animal
  Portuguese veterinary activities. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Hygiene*,
  15(3), 19-28. doi:10.1080/15459624.2017.1395958
- Mayo Clinic (2019). Stress symptoms: Effects on your body and behavior.

  https://www.mayoclinic.org/healthy-lifestyle/stress-management/in-depth/stress-symptoms/art-20050987
- McCarthy, V.J.C., Power, S., & Greiner, B.A. (2010). Perceived occupational stress in nurses working in Ireland. *Occupational Medicine*, 60, 604–610. doi:10.1093/occmed/kqq148
- McHorney, C.A., Ware, J.E., Lu, J.F.R., & Sherbourne, C.D. (1994). The MOS 36-item short-form health survey (SF-36): III. Tests of data quality, scaling assumptions, and reliability across diverse patient groups. *Medical Care*, *32*(1). 40-66.

  https://www.jstor.org/stable/3766189
- National Association of Veterinary Technicians in America. (2016). NAVTA 2016 demographic results survey.

  https://cdn.ymaws.com/www.navta.net/resource/resmgr/docs/2016\_demographic\_results.

  pdf
- National Association of Veterinary Technicians in America. (2019). *Membership*. https://www.navta.net/page/membership

- National Institute of Mental Health. (2019). *Mental illness*. https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/statistics/mental-illness.shtml
- National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (2018). *Veterinary safety and health*.

  Centers for Disease Control. https://www.cdc.gov/niosh/topics/veterinary/work.html
- Obidoa, C.A., Reisine, S.L., & Cheniack, M. (2010). How does the SF-36 perform in healthy populations? A structured review of longitudinal studies.

  https://www.uml.edu/docs/Appendix%20A10%20Obidoa\_JSBHS%200915-21\_tcm18-42659.pdf
- Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion (2020). *Occupational safety and health data details*. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, National Institute of Health. https://www.healthypeople.gov/node/3524/data-details
- Office of Women's Health (2019). *Stress and your health*. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. https://www.womenshealth.gov/mental-health/good-mental-health/stress-and-your-health
- RAND Health Care (2020). *36-item short form survey (SF 36) scoring instructions*. https://www.rand.org/health-care/surveys\_tools/mos/36-item-short-form/scoring.html
- Reeve, C.L., Rogelberg, S.G., Spitzmuller, C., & Digiacomo, N. (2005). The caring-killing paradox: Euthanasia-related strain among animal-shelter workers. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, *35*(1), 119-143. https://onlinelibrary-wiley-com.libproxy.calbaptist.edu/doi/epdf/10.1111/j.1559-1816.2005.tb02096.x
- Rohlf, V.I. (2018). Interventions for occupational stress and compassion fatigue in animal care professionals—A systematic review. *Traumatology*, 24(3), 186–192. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/trm0000144

- Rohlf, V. & Bennett, P. (2005). Perpetration-induced traumatic stress in persons who euthanize nonhuman animals in surgeries, animal shelters, and laboratories. *Society and Animals*, 13(3). doi:10.1163/1568530054927753
- Sarafis, P., Rousaki, E., Tsounis, A., Malliarou, M., Lahana, L., Bamidis, P., Niakas, D., & Papastavrou, E. (2016). The impact of occupational stress on nurses' caring behaviors and their health related quality of life. *BMC Nursing*, *15*(56). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-016-0178-y
- Shelter Animals Count. (2019). *Geographics*. https://www.shelteranimalscount.org/data/Explore-the-Data
- United Way of Central Alabama. (2020). *Health*. https://www.uwca.org/our-impact/health/#:~:text=Alabama%20consistently%20ranks%20low%20in%20the%20United%20States,of%20diabetes%2C%20obesity%2C%20heart%20disease%2C%20and%20preventable%20disease.
- U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2018). Occupational employment and wages, May 2018, 29-2056 veterinary technologists and technicians.

  https://www.bls.gov/oes/current/oes292056.htm#ind
- U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2019a). Occupational outlook statistics, May 2018 national industry-specific occupational employment and wage estimates, NAICS 541900 other professional, scientific, and technical services.
  https://www.bls.gov/oes/current/naics4\_541900.htm
- U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2019b). Occupational outlook handbook, veterinary technicians and technologists, job outlook. Retrieved from https://www.bls.gov/ooh/healthcare/veterinary-technologists-and-technicians.htm#tab 6

- U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (2020b). Occupational employment statistics, May 2019 OES maps, location quotient by MSA. https://www.bls.gov/oes/current/map\_changer.htm
- U.S. Census (2018). QuickFacts, Riverside County, California; California; United States.
  https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/riversidecountycalifornia,CA,US/IN
  C11028
- U.S. Office of Personnel Management (n.d.). *Work life health and wellness*. https://www.opm.gov/policy-data-oversight/worklife/health-wellness/
- Vivian, E., Oduor, H., Arceneaux, S.R., Flores, J.A., Vo, J., & Madson-Madden, B. A. (2019). cross-sectional study of perceived stress, mindfulness, emotional self-regulation, and self-care habits in registered nurses at a tertiary care medical center. *SAGE Open Nursing*, *5*, 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F2377960819827472
- Ware, J.E., Snow, K.K., Kosinski, M., & Gandek, B. (1993). *The SF-36 heath survey manual and interpretation guide*. Nimrod Press. https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/SF-36-health-survey%3A-Manual-and-interpretation-Ware/c4262cefae0217aee75dbc23400fc74d3ad416f6?p2df
- Ware, J.E. & Sherbourne, C.D. (1992). The MOS 36-item short-form health survey (SF-36), I. Conceptual framework and item selection. *Medical Care*, 30(6). https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/1593914/
- Wells, D.L. (2009). The effects of animals on human health and well-being. *Journal of Social Issues*, 65 (3), 523-543
- World Health Organization (2019). *Mental health in the workplace*. https://www.who.int/mental\_health/in\_the\_workplace/en/

Zavalis, A., Galdino de Paula V., Machado, D.A., Marta C.B, Perez Junior E.F., Santiago L.C. (2019). O nível de estresse dos enfermeiros na unidade de terapia intensiva El nivel de estrés de losenfermerosenlaunidad de terapia intensiva [The level of stress of nurses in the intensive care unit]. *Journal of Research: Fundamental Care, 11*(1), 205-210. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.9789/2175-5361.2019.v11i1.205-210

# **Appendix A: Demographics**

**Table 1**Demographics of a sample of veterinary technicians and assistants in a Southern California
County (n=96)

7 79 1 28 2 3 6 42 6	8.0 90.8 1.1 32.2 2.3 3.4 6.9 48.3 6.9
79 1 28 2 3 6 42 6	90.8 1.1 32.2 2.3 3.4 6.9 48.3
79 1 28 2 3 6 42 6	90.8 1.1 32.2 2.3 3.4 6.9 48.3
1 28 2 3 6 42 6	1.1 32.2 2.3 3.4 6.9 48.3
28 2 3 6 42 6	32.2 2.3 3.4 6.9 48.3
2 3 6 42 6	2.3 3.4 6.9 48.3
2 3 6 42 6	2.3 3.4 6.9 48.3
3 6 42 6	3.4 6.9 48.3
6 42 6	6.9 48.3
42 6	48.3
6	
	6.9
4.1	
4.1	
41	47.1
32	36.8
14	16.1
11	12.5
56	63.6
12	13.6
8	9.1
	1.1
1	1.1
	21.6
	43.2
	28.4
	5.7
16	19.0
	26.2
	25.0
	15.5
	10.7
	3.6
	11 56

**Appendix B: Descriptive Statistics and Correlations** 

**Table 2**Descriptive Statistics and Correlations for NSS and SF-36 Subscales

Variable	N	M	SD	1	2	3
1.NSS total score <sup>a</sup>	96	42.01	17.35	_	-0.26*	-0.28**
2.SF-36 MH score <sup>b</sup>	89	61.91	23.61	-0.26*	_	0.19
3.SF-36 PF score <sup>c</sup>	89	83.32	19.74	-0.28**	0.19	_

a=Nursing Stress Scale, b=Emotional Well-Being subscale, c=Physical Functioning subscale. \*p=.015 \*\*p=.008

#### **Appendix C: IRB Approval**

#### IRB # 076-1920 FULL Approvai

To: Kimberly Nellie Ann Fong; Institutional Review Board Cc: Lindsay Fahnestock

RE: IRB Review IRB No.: 076-1920 FULL

Project: Occupational Stress in Veterinary Technicians

Date Complete Application Received: 4/14/2020 Date Final Revision Received: 4/17/2020

Principle Investigator: Ms. Kimberly Fong Co-PI: N/A
Faculty Advisor: Dr. Lindsay Fahnestock

College/Department: CHS

IRB Determination: Full Proposal Approved - Faculty research using anonymous survey questionnaires; no minor participants; no more than minimal risk/risk appropriately mitigated; no deception utilized; acceptable consent procedures and documentation; acceptable data protection procedures. Data collection may begin, in accordance with the final submitted documents and approved protocol.

Future Correspondence: All future correspondence about this project must include all Pls, Co-Pls, and Faculty Advisors (as relevant) and reference the assigned IRB number.

Approval Information: (Expiration: Full Review Only) Approval is granted for one year from date below. If you would like to continue research activities beyond that date, you are responsible for submitting a Research Renewal Request with enough time for that request to be reviewed and approved prior to the expiration of the project. In the case of an unforeseen risk/adverse experience, please report this to the IRB immediately using the appropriate forms. Requests for a change to protocol must be submitted for IRB review and approved prior to implementation. At the completion of the project, you are to submit a Research Closure Form.

Researcher Responsibilities. The researcher is responsible for ensuring that the research is conducted in the manner outlined in the IRB application and that all reporting requirements are met. Please refer to this approval and to the IRB handbook for more information.

Date: 4/30/2020

#### **Appendix D: Survey Recruitment Flyer**











## ALL RIVERSIDE COUNTY VET TECHS NEEDED FOR RESEARCH STUDY!!

This hospital's <u>Registered Veterinary Technicians AND non-registered veterinary</u> <u>technicians</u> are being invited to participate in a research study conducted by Kim Fong, RVT (Master of Public Health student) from the Department of Public Health Sciences at California Baptist University (CBU) under the supervision of Dr. Lindsay Fahnestock (Assistant Professor of Health Sciences at California Baptist University).

The **ONLINE** survey should take about 15 minutes to complete & is available at

https://tinyurl.com/Vet-Tech-Survey

from **NOW** until June 26, 2020 at 11:59 pm.

I will visit your hospital during the next few weeks to promote the survey and to answer questions!

<u>PURPOSE:</u> This study will look at the connection between work stress and physical & mental health of veterinary technicians working throughout Riverside County.

<u>COMPENSATION:</u> Upon completion of the survey, participants have the option of submitting an email/phone number to be added to a weekly drawing for one of four \$25.00 gift cards (vendor TBD). Contact information will <u>not</u> be used for any other purpose.

<u>CONFIDENTIALITY:</u> RESPONSES ARE CONFIDENTIAL. Participation in the survey is voluntary. Responses will <u>not</u> be shared with anyone. Any personal information in the survey will <u>not</u> be used or distributed for future research. Final responses will be reported as a group. This study has been approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at California Baptist University (<u>IRB@calbaptist.edu</u>).

<u>QUESTIONS?</u> Please contact the researcher **Kim Fong**, **RVT at 909-319-1062 or** <u>KimberlyNellieAnn.Fong@calbaptist.edu</u>











### **Appendix E: Consent Form and Demographic Section of Survey**

#### **Work Stress in Veterinary Technicians**

Start of Block: Workplace Stress & Health

<u>California Baptist University Informed Consent to Participate in Research</u> You are being invited to participate in a research study conducted by Kim Fong, RVT (Master of Public Health student) from the Department of Public Health Sciences at California Baptist University (CBU) under the supervision of Dr. Lindsay Fahnestock (Assistant Professor of Health Sciences at California Baptist University).

<u>PURPOSE</u>: The purpose of this study is to examine the connection between work stress factors and ways of coping with stress of veterinary technicians working in Riverside County. <u>INCLUSION CRITERIA</u>: Participants must be over 18 and be a currently employed Registered Veterinary Technician (RVT) or non-RVT (veterinary assistant) at a veterinary setting in Riverside County. Internet access and a computer or cell phone are required to take the online survey.

<u>PARTICIPATION</u>: You will be asked to take an online survey about your work experiences as a veterinary technician. You will also be asked about your experiences of stress at work and how you cope with stressful events. RESPONSES ARE CONFIDENTIAL. Your participation in this survey is voluntary. You may refuse to take part in the research or exit the survey at any time without penalty. You are free to decline to answer any particular question you do not wish to answer for any reason. The survey should take approximately 15 minutes to complete.

<u>RISKS & BENEFITS</u>: While there are no direct benefits for you, upon completion of the survey you will have the option of submitting your email or phone number to be added to a weekly drawing for one of four \$25.00 gift cards (vendor TBD). Your contact information will NOT be used for any other purpose and will be deleted weekly.

Your participation in the survey helps increase awareness of the stress and health of veterinary technicians. While no known discomforts are expected, some questions may be personal or upsetting. You can skip them or quit the survey at any time. Anytime you share information online there are risks. A secure system will be used to collect this data, but the risk cannot be eliminated.

<u>CONFIDENTIALITY</u>: Your responses will not be shared with anyone. Any personal information in the survey will not be used or distributed for future research. Final responses will be reported as a group. Your survey responses will be sent to a link on https://qualtrics.com where data will be stored in a password-protected electronic format. Qualtrics treats all data as highly confidential. Qualtrics does not collect identifying information such as your name, email address, or IP address. Any identifying information given in this consent form will be separated from your responses to the survey. Therefore, your responses will remain confidential. No one will be able to identify you or your answers.

**CONTACT:** This study has been approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at

California Baptist University. The IRB is a committee tasked with the review of research and the protection of human participants. If you should have any questions about the nature of this study, about your participation, or your rights as a research participant, please contact the IRB via email at IRB@calbaptist.edu.

If you have questions or want a copy of this consent form please contact the researcher Kim Fong at 909-319-1062 or KimberlyNellieAnn.Fong@calbaptist.edu. You can also contact the faculty advisor, Dr. Lindsay Fahnestock, at 951-552-8535 or LFahnestock@calbaptist.edu.

<u>ELECTRONIC CONSENT:</u> Please select your choice below. Clicking on the "Agree" button indicates that:

- You have read and understand the above information
- You voluntarily agree to participate

<ul> <li>You are 18 years of age or older</li> <li>You are a veterinary technician by trade</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>○ I agree and give my consent to participate in this research project. I understand that participation is voluntary and that I may withdraw my consent at any time. (11)</li> <li>○ I do not agree to participate and will be excluded from the remainder of the questions. (12)</li> </ul>
Skip To: End of Survey If California Baptist University Informed Consent to Participate in Research You are being invited = 12
PLEASE FINISH SURVEY IN ONE SITTING. Your progress in the survey is shown above.
These last questions ask about demographics. This section should take about 5 minutes to complete, then you will be done!
Q1 What city do you work in?  O Please enter zip code for where you work (28)

Q2 What is your ethnicity or race?
○ White (13)
O Black or African American (14)
O American Indian or Alaska Native (15)
O Asian (16)
O Hispanic (17)
Other (please specify) (18)
Q3 What is your gender?
O Male (1)
O Female (2)
O Prefer not to say (3)
Other (please specify) (4)
Q4 How old are you?
O 18 - 24 (1)
O 25 - 34 (2)
O 35 - 44 (3)
O 45 - 54 (4)
$\bigcirc$ 55 or older (5)

Q5 What is your marital status?
O Married (1)
O Divorced (2)
O Single (3)
O In a relationship but do not live together (4)
O Live with boyfriend/girlfriend but not married (5)
Other (please specify) (6)
Q6 How many children do you have?
O 0 (20)
O <sub>1</sub> (21)
O 2 (22)
O 3 (23)
O 4 or more (please specify) (24)
Q7 What best describes your living situation?
O Rent (59)
Own (paying mortgage) (60)
C Live with parents (61)
Other (please specify) (62)

Q8 What is your highest level of education?
O High school graduate (1)
O Some college ("I took some classes but do not have a degree") (2)
2 year degree (Associate) (3)
4 year degree (Bachelor) (4)
Other (please specify) (5)
Q9 What type of veterinary setting do you work at?
O Primary care (general practice) (318)
Emergency (clinic is open 24 hours) (319)
O Shelter (city or county) (320)
O Specialty (cardiology, ophthalmology, etc.) (321)
C Large animal (322)
○ Educational setting (instructor, professor, etc.) (323)
O Zoo (324)
Other (please specify) (325)

Q11 How long have you worked at your <u>current</u> job?
O Less than 1 year (1)
O Between 1-2 years (2)
O Between 2-3 years (3)
O Between 3-4 years (4)
O Between 4-5 years (5)
O More than 5 years (please specify) (6)
Page Break

Q12 How many days per week do you work?
1-2 days per week (1)
3-4 days per week (2)
○ 5-6 days per week (3)
7 days a week (5)
Q13 How many hours do you work in a typical day?
C Less than 8 hours (1)
○ 8 hours (2)
9-10 hours (3)
11-12 hours (4)
O More than 12 hours (please specify) (5)
Q14 What is your title at your current job?
Registered Veterinary Technician ("RVT") (1)
O Non-registered veterinary technician ("veterinary assistant") (2)
Other (please specify) (3)

Q15 If you are an RVT, how did you get licensed?
O I attended a program ("Carrington, Platt, Penn Foster" etc.) (1)
○ I attended a university ("Cal Poly Pomona" etc.) (2)
O I did an "alternate route" (3)
O I am not an RVT / This question does not apply to me (4)
Other (please specify) (5)
Q20 Does your employer offer any type of mental health or physical health promotion or stress-reduction programs?
O Yes (14)
O No (15)
O Not sure (16)
Q16 Does your employer offer any type of retirement or financial planning (such as 401k)?
○ Yes (9)
O No (10)
O Not sure (11)
Page Break

Q18 How much do you get paid per hour?
C Less than \$15.00 per hour (1)
\$15.01-\$17.00 per hour (2)
\$17.01-\$19.00 per hour (3)
\$19.01-\$21.00 per hour (4)
O More than \$21.00 per hour (please specify) (5)
Q19 How much do you get paid on average every month AFTER taxes are taken out?
O less than \$1,500 (247)
\$1,501-\$2,000 (248)
O \$2,001-\$2,500 (249)
O \$2,501-\$3,000 (250)
\$3,001-\$3,500 (251)
O More than \$3,501 (please specify) (252)

(	020 Wh	en vou	think o	of vour	current	financial	situation.	how d	lo vou	feel?
`	<i>72</i> 0 ** 11	cii you	umin v	or your	Cui i Ciit	minanciai	situation.	HOW C	io you	1001.

	Not at all (1)	A Little (2)	Somewhat (3)	Very (4)
Worried (1)	0	$\circ$	$\circ$	$\circ$
Bothered or upset (2)	0	$\circ$	$\circ$	$\circ$
Tense (3)	0	$\circ$	$\circ$	$\circ$
Unhappy (4)	0	$\circ$	$\circ$	0
Frustrated (5)	0	$\circ$	$\circ$	$\circ$
Insecure (6)	0	$\circ$	$\circ$	0
Relaxed (7)	0	$\circ$	$\circ$	$\circ$
Content (8)	0	$\circ$	$\circ$	$\circ$

-	 -	_	_	-	 	-	-	_	-	_	-	-	-	 	 -	 _	-	-	-	_	-	_	-	-	 -	-	_	-	_	 	-	-	-	-	_	-	_	-	_	-	 	 _	_	-

Page Break -

Thank you for completing the surve	eting the survey!	compl	you for	Thank
------------------------------------	-------------------	-------	---------	-------

If you would like to be entered into a raffle to win one of four \$25.00 gift cards (vendor TBD), please leave your email or phone number. Your contact information will NOT be associated with your survey. Two winners per week. No multiple entries.

Feel free to add any comments that you want others to know about being a veterinary technicia	Feel fi	ree to add an	y comments that y	ou want others to k	now about being	a veterinary technici
---	---------	---------------	-------------------	---------------------	-----------------	-----------------------